IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION TWO STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, v. MASON FILITAULA, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY The Honorable Frank E. Cuthbertson, Judge CORRECTED BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CASEY GRANNIS Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial during the jury selection process.
 - 2. The court erred in admitting gang evidence.

<u>Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error</u>

- 1. Whether the court violated appellant's constitutional right to a public trial when it conducted the peremptory challenge stage of jury selection in a private, off the record proceeding without analyzing the requisite factors to justify the closure?
- 2. Whether the court erred in admitting gang evidence due to a lack of necessary nexus with the crime, resulting in the admission of irrelevant or unduly prejudicial evidence in violation of ER 402, ER 403 and ER 404(b)?

B. <u>STATEMENT OF THE CASE</u>

1. <u>Procedural Facts</u>

The State charged Mason Filitaula with first degree assault under count I and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm under count II. CP 118-19. A jury acquitted Filitaula of first degree assault on count I but convicted him of second degree assault as a lesser offense and returned a special verdict that he was armed with a firearm. CP 42, 44. Filitaula waived a jury trial for count II and the court found him guilty on that

count. 4RP¹ 22, 59-62, 1047. The court sentenced Filitaula to a total of 72 months confinement. CP 124. This timely appeal follows. CP 235-50.

2. Trial

Joshue Tamblin lived with his mother Cindy Tamblin and his 15 year old brother T. 4RP 257-58, 503-04. Tamblin had been convicted of prior crimes of dishonesty, including first degree theft and second degree burglary. 4RP 486-87. He has three children. 4RP 258. Michelle Webb is the mother of one of those children. 4RP 258. Webb was Tamblin's exgirlfriend. 4RP 408-09. Webb's boyfriend at the time of the incident was a man named "Jeremy." 4RP 263.

On July 23, 2011, Tamblin argued all day with Webb about her stealing some of his father's things, including his father's lingerie. 4RP 259-62, 265, 409-10. Tamblin's father had recently died. 4RP 261-62. Tamblin and Webb's boyfriend, Jeremy, started arguing over the phone via text message. 4RP 263-64, 414-15. Jeremy told Tamblin "you ain't going to talk to my girl like that." 4RP 264, 415. Tamblin told Webb to bring his dad's things back by 5 p.m. or he would come and take everything she

¹ The verbatim report of proceedings is referenced as follows: 1RP - 9/23/11; 2RP 11/15/11; 3RP - 2/13/12; 4RP - six consecutively paginated volumes consisting of 2/29/12, 3/5/12, 3/7/12 (vol. I), 3/8/12 (vol. II), 3/12/12 (vol. III), 3/13/12 (vol. IV); 3/14/12 (vol. V); 3/15/12, 3/19/12, 3/20/12 (vol. 6); 5RP - 3/5/12, 3/6/12 (voir dire); 6RP - 3/7/12 (opening statement); 7RP - 4/20/12.

owned. 4RP 262-63, 411, 419. Tamblin told Jeremy to come over to the house. 4RP 264, 415. Jeremy said he would. 4RP 264-65, 415, 419-20. Both threatened to beat the other up. 4RP 420. At the end of the text argument, Tamblin called Jeremy's cousin "Vance" a snitch. 4RP 379-80, 416, 422.

People present at the Tamblin house that day, in addition to Tamblin, Tamblin's mother Cindy, ² and Tamblin's brother T., were Tamblin's girlfriend Crystal Rogers, ³ Cindy's friend Patricia Ignacio, and some children. ⁴ 4RP 600-01, 605, 714-15, 727-28.

Following Tamblin's text message argument, T. noticed a brownish-red car drive slowly past the house and park right in front of the house. 4RP 508. Men got out of the car and approached the house. 4RP 509. Cindy said she saw a gold colored car drive by and four people get out: Jeremy and three others she had not seen before. 4RP 730-32.

² For clarity, this brief refers to Cindy Tamblin as "Cindy" and Joshue Tamblin as "Tamblin."

³ Rogers had prior convictions for crimes of dishonesty, including forgery, first degree theft, second degree theft and residential burglary. 4RP 619, 704-05. She used methamphetamine that day and had abused the drug since she was 12 years old. 4RP 643-44. She complained of memory loss and acknowledged methamphetamine affected her ability to perceive and relate information. 4RP 643-44, 679-80. She testified she was still feeling the effect of the drug when interviewed by police after the incident. 4RP 709-10. She admitted lying on the stand in regard to certain points of her testimony. 4RP 660, 667.

According to T., a man in braids knocked on the door and asked for Tamblin.⁵ 4RP 510, 513. Cindy asked his name. 4RP 741. The man identified himself as "KB" and said "I'm here for Michelle's boyfriend" or "I'm here for my homey." 4RP 511, 541-43, 550, 552, 741. Cindy let Tamblin know that someone was outside the house. 4RP 421. Tamblin came out of the house yelling, thinking it was Jeremy. 4RP 298, 421-22. Tamblin had never met or seen KB before.⁶ 4RP 269, 305-06.

According to Tamblin, KB was outside the fence in front of the house. 4RP 267, 296, 423. Tamblin said something like "this is on Hilltop" or "cuz it's on 23rd Block in Hilltop." 4RP 299-300, 422-23. "Cuz" is a friendly term for Crips. 4RP 300. "Hilltop" referred to the Hilltop Crips. 4RP 300. Tamblin is not a Hilltop Crip. 4RP 300. He said he associated with them, which meant he had Hilltop Crip friends and his brother-in-law was a member. 4RP 300. When asked his purpose for making the Hilltop reference to KB, Tamblin answered "I'm stating where I'm from." 4RP 301. When asked why he would say this, Tamblin replied, "I don't know." 4RP 301.

KB said something in response to Tamblin's Hilltop reference, but Tamblin could not recall what. 4RP 423. According to Tamblin, KB

⁵ Cindy testified a man came to the fence and asked for Tamblin. 4RP 732-33

⁶ Rogers had seen KB twice before. 4RP 606, 624-28.

"didn't say no gang talk" or anything gang-related: "It was like bitch and shit and stuff like that." 4RP 301. 4RP 301. Tamblin and KB started yelling and swearing at one another. 4RP 269-70, 298-99, 426-27, 431. According to Rogers and Cindy, Tamblin and KB were calling each other all sorts of names, like punks and bitches, and threatening to beat the other up. 4RP 629, 662-63, 742-43.

Tamblin testified that he saw a gun in KB's hand a few minutes after exiting the house.⁸ 4RP 297-98, 427. Tamblin noticed Jeremy and two other men he identified as Vance and Luta in the vicinity. 4RP 298-99, 305. Vance and Luta came up to the fence. 4RP 371, 378-79, 458-59. Tamblin was inconsistent on whether Jeremy came up to the fence or stayed out on the street.⁹ 4RP 305, 458-59. He was also inconsistent on whether on whether Vance and Luta had guns. 4RP 375-76, 378, 387.

Tamblin said "We can fight." 4RP 553. According to T., KB pulled out a gun after back and forth argument and said "whoop whoop."

⁷ Cindy described the words as "gang words," by which she meant cuss words. 4RP 753-54, 766-67.

⁸ In an earlier statement during a defense interview, Tamblin said he saw gun in KB's hand right after leaving house. 4RP 363-64.

⁹ According to T., three people came inside the fenced area. 4RP 515. According to Rogers, KB and the others were outside the fence. 4RP 609, 660.

¹⁰ 4RP 513, 553. Tamblin's mother Cindy said to KB "why don't you fight like a real man." 4RP 431, 512, 555. According to T., KB handed the gun off to another. 4RP 512, 555. T. stepped in and blocked KB from coming though the gate. 4RP 743. According to T. and Cindy, KB hit T. in the face, but T. stood his ground. ¹¹ 4RP 512-13, 744, 780.

Cindy told them to take it somewhere else because kids were there. 4RP 744. Objects were thrown back and forth over the fence. 4RP 380, 382-83, 431, 516, 639-40, 665-66. Rogers testified that she was in the middle of KB and Tamblin, telling them children were there and they should stop and calm down. 4RP 608, 629, 668.

Tamblin denied arguing with KB about Vance being a snitch, but later acknowledged KB said something related to the snitch issue. 4RP 305, 369, 379. In an earlier statement, Tamblin said he called Vance a snitch during the argument. 4RP 364-69. The prosecutor elicited

¹⁰ T. did not hear Tamblin claim to be Hilltop or use language associated with "that type of thing." 4RP 580. He never heard anyone talking about the Hilltop Crips or the 23rd Street block. 4RP 580. T. thought "whoop whoop" was "part of a gang," but no foundation was laid for that asserted belief. 4RP 580.

¹¹ T. is 6 foot four or five inches tall. 4RP 786. Tamblin thought Vance punched T. 4RP 381.

¹² Cindy testified that she never left the front porch, and did not see Rogers until after Tamblin was shot. 4RP 749, 751.

Tamblin's agreement that a "rule of the street" is crime victims do not snitch. 4RP 370.¹³

Eventually, Jeremy said something like "Let's go." 4RP 386. Tamblin said "Slob, this is on Hilltop." 4RP 434. The prosecutor elicited from Tamblin that "slob" is a disrespectful term for Bloods. 4RP 301-02, 386. Tamblin testified that he called KB a "slob" because Vance, Jeremy and Luta were dressed in red. 4RP 302-04, 457. KB was not dressed in red; he had on a white tank top and blue jeans. 4RP 302, 456-57.

KB responded with "you don't know no one from Hilltop" or "You ain't from Hilltop." 4RP 386, 434. Tamblin was inconsistent on when KB pointed the gun at him, at one point testifying KB did so after making the Hilltop reference. ARP 435. Tamblin also testified that KB pointed the gun first, at which point Tamblin said "fuck slobs." 4RP 437. Then KB said "You don't know no one from the Hill" and fired a shot. 4RP 437.

¹³ Rogers did not remember any talk about a snitch. 4RP 673.

¹⁴ Tamblin denied telling Officer Martin that KB was a member of the Bloods street gang. 4RP 385-86.

¹⁵ In an earlier statement, Tamblin said Luta had on a white shirt, without saying anything about him wearing a red shirt and/or sweater. 4RP 458. No evidence connected the wearing of red clothes with the Bloods or any other gang.

¹⁶ Tamblin testified that he never saw Luta and Vance pointing or shooting their guns. 4RP 392. But he acknowledged saying in a pre-trial interview that Vance and Luta also pulled out pistols and all three of them had him at gunpoint. 4RP 482.

Tamblin said he was walking towards the door of the house when the first shot was fired. 4RP 486. KB fired shots toward the ground but with Tamblin in the line of fire. 4RP 386, 388-89, 391-92, 434. Tamblin believed KB was just trying to scare him by shooting into the ground. 4RP 392. Tamblin maintained that he pushed Crystal and T. into the house. 17 4RP 389-90, 437, 439-40. He then turned around and was shot in the ankle. 4RP 390-93, 437, 441-42. Tamblin believed there were four or five shots total. 4RP 439.

According to T., Tamblin ran behind or into the garage. 4RP 517. KB told him to come out. 4RP 517. Tamblin tried to run into the house. 4RP 517. KB shot towards the direction of Tamblin as he ran to the back door. 4RP 518-19, 562-64. T. heard seven shots. 4RP 519.

According to Rogers, all of the other men had a gun or there was more than one gun. 4RP 609-11. A gun was moved from person to person, including KB. 4RP 610, 669. She testified that KB pointed a gun at her while she was in the middle of KB and Tamblin, but also claimed not to remember who was holding the gun. 4RP 683-84, 705-06.

In Rogers's version of events, Tamblin said something like "Oh homey, you're going to shoot me? Then shoot me." 4RP 669. Rogers

¹⁷ T. denied that happened. 4RP 568. Rogers said Tamblin pushed her and T. into the house. 4RP 612-13.

turned and ran to the house, trying to get Tamblin to go with her. 4RP 611-12, 669. Tamblin ran for the house. 4RP 612. She heard two to five gunshots. 4RP 612, 630, 671. She did not see who fired the shots. 4RP 670.

In Cindy's version of events, one of the other men handed KB something. 4RP 747, 769. Then KB started waiving a gun, saying he would shoot. 4RP 747-48. There was more yelling back and forth for a few minutes. 4RP 748, 771. Tamblin said "Bring it on." 4RP 771. KB fired what Cindy called a warning shot because the gun was pointed away from Tamblin. 4RP 748, 774. Tamblin leaped toward the garage as KB shot four more times, hitting Tamblin in the ankle. 4RP 749-50.

KB and the others ran across the street toward their car after the shooting. 4RP 393, 521. Police responded to the 911 call. 4RP 116.

When asked if he saw KB in the courtroom, Tamblin replied, "They don't look the same, but you never know." 4RP 269. Tamblin described KB as having a tattoo going down his shoulder like a dragon or snake. 4RP 269, 297. Tamblin said KB "looks more Mexican" and his hair was straight. 4RP 269, 297. On another day of testimony, Tamblin again denied seeing the person who shot him in the courtroom. 4RP 406, 422-23.

Tamblin said KB, Luta and Vance all looked Mexican. 4RP 304. He also described Vance as "Guamanian" or "Islander." 4RP 304, 416. Jeremy is white. 4RP 302-03.

Tamblin denied remembering that police asked him if he could identify KB from pictures or that he described KB as a Pacific Islander-looking person with a long braided ponytail. 4RP 384-85. He acknowledged that he wrote his signature over the photo in the montage associated with Filitaula. 4RP 406-08. Tamblin, however, denied the person in the montage was Filitaula. 4RP 407-08. Officer Martin testified that Tamblin had identified KB as the shooter and that he picked Filitaula's photo out of the montage. 4RP 801-04, 807.

At trial, Rogers said she had no idea what race KB was, but he was possibly Caucasian or Asian. 4RP 607. She identified Filitaula in court as KB. 4RP 607. She told police at the scene that she saw the person who shot Tamblin, but at trial said it was only an assumption. 4RP 620-21. She described KB as of mixed race, "maybe Guamanian, black with long ponytail." 4RP 167-68. In a second statement at the police station, Rogers identified KB as the shooter from a single photo that was shown to her. 4RP 228-29, 234-36, 252, 623, 630-33, 795-96, 800, 804, 827-28. Rogers remembered KB and the other men all wearing primary colors like gray, black and white. 4RP 609, 661.

T. described the men as three Samoans and one white male. 4RP 509. When asked if he saw anyone with noticeable tattoos, T. said he was not really paying attention, but that nothing stood out. 4RP 573. One man had braids down both sides of his head. 4RP 509. At trial, T. said KB had on a red shirt, but in an earlier statement to police indicated KB had on a white shirt. 4RP 546, 575. When asked if he saw the man in the braids in the courtroom, T. said "it doesn't really look like him." 4RP 511-12. Filitaula had the same skin color. 4RP 523. T. remembered looking at a photomontage and picking someone out of the montage as the shooter KB. 4RP 524-25, 530-32. T. said the person in the photo and Filitaula "kind of" looked the same, but that the person in the photo was darker. 4RP 531-32.

Cindy described the man that identified himself as KB as a light skinned, mixed race man with braided ponytails. 4RP 732-33. When asked if she saw him in court, Cindy replied, "In one way, I do. In another -- in other ways, there's -- he's a lot older than what -- this kid was really young. This kid was like my son's age." 4RP 733. When later asked if she saw KB in the courtroom, Cindy answered "Not really." 4RP 761-62. According to Cindy, the person she called KB was "Indian with mixed white." 4RP 762. In a statement to police after the incident, Cindy described KB and the other men as Pacific Islanders. 4RP 141-42. Cindy

picked a photo out of a montage as the man who shot Tamblin. 4RP 734-39,

A bartender working nearby noticed a car parked in the bar's parking lot on the day at issue. ARP 177-80. According to the bartender, two "Islanders" and one Caucasian man were with the car. 4RP 181-82, 185. One of the Islanders had braids. 4RP 185. One or two of the Islanders may have had ponytails. 4RP 186. One wore a red shirt and shorts. 4RP 188. The bar manager noticed a light colored car in the bar parking area and saw a Caucasian and two others who may have been Asian (Pacific Islander) or Hispanic get out of the car. 4RP 920-11. One had long hair that was braided or in a ponytail. 4RP 921. The manager thought this man possibly wore a dark shirt. 4RP 921-22.

The men loitered near the car, at one point opening the trunk, and then walked off into the neighborhood. 4RP 181-82. The bartender later heard gunshots and saw the car drive off. 4RP 180.

Police recovered two 9 mm shell casing from the scene of the shooting. 4RP 173-74, 840-41. It matched another shell casing from a previous incident from a month earlier in which Filitaula fired a gun. 4RP

¹⁸ The bartender could not recall the color of the car, but thought it might be a lighter color, like beige or white. 4RP 181.

336, 340-41, 882-83, 889-90. During a jail call, Filitaula placed himself at Tamblin's house on the day in question. Ex. 37; 4RP 879.

Defense counsel argued in closing the State had not proven Filitaula was the shooter because the State's eyewitness had credibility problems and gave inconsistent accounts. 4RP 1005-23.

C. ARGUMENT

1. THE COURT VIOLATED FILITAULA'S RIGHT TO A PUBLIC TRIAL WHEN IT CONDUCTED A PORTION OF THE JURY SELECTION PROCESS IN PRIVATE.

The parties exercised peremptory challenges in a manner that was not open to the public. The court erred in conducting this portion of the jury selection process in private without justifying the closure under the standard established by Washington Supreme Court and United States Supreme Court precedent. This structural error requires reversal of the assault conviction.¹⁹

a. Peremptory Challenges Exercised

Jury selection took place on March 5 and 6, 2012. 5RP. The venire panel was publicly questioned on the record in the courtroom and excusals for cause were made. 5RP 3-204. The court then told the jury "As we have gone along, we have been exercising what we call challenges

¹⁹ The charge of unlawful possession of a firearm was tried by the court rather than a jury and therefore is not implicated by the public trial error.

for cause, and so the benches are not quite as tight as they were this time Now the lawyers are going to exercise what they call peremptory challenges, and while they're exercising their peremptory challenges, you all can be at ease and can even talk to each other, but I'm going to ask that, of course, you don't discuss the case and I'm going to ask that you remain right where you are and make sure that your numbers are visible on your clothing because they're going to still be operating by your pink tags." 5RP 204. The court carried on for a while about the greatness of the American system of juries and justice. 5RP 204-09. peremptory challenges were conducted off the record, designated by a "pause in proceedings" in the transcript. 5RP 209. The attorneys exercised peremptory challenges by listing names on a piece of paper. CP 260. When the process was finished, the court announced on the record who would serve as jurors for the trial. 5RP 209.

b. <u>The Private Peremptory Challenge Conference</u> <u>Constitutes A Closure For Public Trial Purposes.</u>

The federal and state constitutions guarantee the right to a public trial to every defendant. U.S. Const. amend VI; Wash. Const. art I, § 22. Additionally, article I, section 10 expressly guarantees to the public and press the right open court proceedings. <u>State v. Easterling</u>, 157 Wn.2d 167, 174, 137 P.3d 825 (2006). The First Amendment implicitly protects the

same right. Waller v. Georgia, 467 U.S. 39, 46, 104 S. Ct. 2210, 81 L. Ed. 2d 31 (1984). Whether a trial court has violated the defendant's right to a public trial is a question of law reviewed de novo. Easterling, 157 Wn.2d at 173–74.

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