COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, RESPONDENT

٧.

MASON FILITAULA, APPELLANT

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County
The Honorable Frank E. Cuthbertson

No. 11-1-03371-8

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By JASON RUYF Deputy Prosecuting Attorney WSB # 38725

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

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

The exercise of peremptory challenges³⁰ is a component of Washington's jury selection process that has yet to be specifically addressed in our Supreme Court's recent expansion of public trial right jurisprudence. *Wilson*, 174 Wn. App. at 338. A determination of whether peremptory challenges must be exercised in public must come from

²⁹ In *State v. Paumier*, 176 Wn.2d 29, 34, 228 P.3d 1126 (2012) and *State v. Wise*, 176 Wn.2d 1, 10, 228 P.3d 1113 (2012) "our Supreme court appears to have used the terms 'jury selection' and 'voir dire' interchangeably in the *Bone-Club* context. But [this Court] view[s] this interchangeable usage as inadvertent and *not* as evincing the Court's intent to treat these two terms as synonymous for precedential purposes...." *Wilson*, 174 Wn. App. at 339-40.

³⁰CrR 6.4(e)(1) Peremptory Challenges Defined. A peremptory challenge is an objection to a juror for which there is no reason given, but upon which the court shall exclude the juror...."

application of the "experience and logic test." *Sublett*, 176 Wn.2d at 141.³¹

That test requires courts to assess a closure by consideration of both history (experience) and the purposes of the open trial provision (logic). *Id.* at 73. The experience prong asks whether the practice in question has been historically open to the public, while the logic prong asks whether public access is significant to the functioning of the right. *Id.* The *Bone-Club* analysis must be applied before the court can close the courtroom if both prongs are answered affirmatively. *Id.*

A historical review of peremptory challenges in this state "does not require that th[eir] exercise ... [be] conducted in public." *State v. Love*,

____ Wn. App. _____, 7, 9, No. 30809-0-III (Pub. Sept., 2013). "[I]n over 140 years ... there is little evidence of public exercise of such challenges, and some evidence that they were conducted privately." *Id.* The *Love* court only discovered one case in which defense challenged the "use of secret—written—peremptory jury challenges" as defendant does in the instant case. *See Id.* (*quoting State v. Thomas*, 16 Wn. App. 1, 13, 553 P.2d 1357 (Div. 2, 1976)). Thomas, like defendant, argued "Kitsap County's use of use of secret— written— peremptory jury challenges

³¹ Although no opinion gathered more than four votes, eight of the nine justices sitting in *Sublett* approved the "experience and logic" test."

denie[d] both a fair and public trial." This Court held that claim "ha[d] no merit" due in part to the Court's "fail[ure] to see how th[at] practice, which is utilized in several counties in this state, could in any way prejudice the defendant." 16 Wn. App. at 13. This Court concluded the "manner of exercise ... rests exclusively with the legislature and the courts, subject only to the requirement of a fair and impartial jury." *Id.* (citing State v. *Persinger*, 62 Wn.2d 362, 383 P.2d 497 (1963)). *Love* found *Thomas* to be "strong evidence that preemptory challenges can be conducted in private." *Love*, ____ Wn. App. at 8.³²

Love's consideration of the logic prong similarly revealed that public exercise of peremptory challenges was not necessary. Love, ____ Wn. App.____, 9. The purposes of the public trial right are: to ensure a fair trial, to remind the officers of the court of the importance of their functions, to encourage witnesses to come forward, and to discourage perjury. Brightman, 155 Wn.2d at 514. "Those purposes are not furthered by a party's actions in exercising a peremptory challenge ... as [it] presents no question of public oversight." Love, ___ Wn. App.____, 9.

³² "The current statutes governing ... preemptory challenges in civil cases are found in RCW 4.44.130-.250. All of these statutes trace back to at least 1869; some are earlier. See Laws of 1869 §§ 212-223. CrR 6.4(e) supersedes the former statutes that provided for peremptory challenges in criminal cases. Those statutes, former RCW 10.49.030-.060, were repealed by Laws of 1984, ch. 76, § 30, and had their genesis in the laws of 1854 §§ 102-06. *Id.* at 8, n.6.

Any risk that privately exercised peremptory challenges might conceal a litigant's attempt to strike potential jurors for impermissible reasons, such as race, ³³ is negated when objections to challenges and the identity of stricken jurors are either disclosed in open court at trial or committed to the public record as public scrutiny could follow either form of disclosure. *See e.g.*, *Cohen v. Senkowski*, 290 F.3d 485, 490 (2nd Cir. 2002) (*citing United States v. Fontenot*, 14 F.3d 1364, 1370 (9th Cir.1994)). ³⁴ "The written record of [the peremptory challenge process consequently] satisfies the public's interest in the case and assures that all activities were conducted aboveboard, even if not within public earshot." *Love*, ___Wn. App. ____, 10.

Love found further support for its reasoning through analogy to

Sublett since a written record of the peremptory challenge process had
been committed to public record in Love as the written jury question and

³³ See e.g., **Batson v. Kentucky**, 476 U.S. 79, 86, 106 S. Ct. 1712, 90 L. Ed. 2nd 69 (1986); **State v. Saintacalle**, ___ Wn.2d ___, __ P.3d ___, 2013 WL 3946038 at 21 (Slip Op. filed Aug. 1, 2013)(Gonzalez, J., concurring)).

³⁴ "Many ... circuits have held that if a defendant is given an opportunity to register his opinions with counsel after juror questioning and is present when the exercise of strikes is given formal effect, then his constitutional right to be present is satisfied. *United States v. Fontenot*, 14 F.3d 1364, 1370 (9th Cir.1994); *United States v. Gayles*, 1 F.3d 735, 738 (8th Cir.1993); *United States v. Bascaro*, 742 F.2d 1335, 1349–50 (11th Cir.1984); cf. *United States v. Washington*, 705 F.2d 489, 497 (D.C.Cir.1983) (finding that defendant has right to be present for juror questioning). [Some] [D]istrict courts ... have consistently held that a defendant's absence during the exercise of challenges does not violate his constitutional rights provided he is present for juror questioning and the formal reading of challenges in open court. *See, e.g., Evans v. Artuz*, 68 F.Supp.2d 188, 195 (E.D.N.Y.1999); *Benitez v. Senkowski*, 1998 WL 668079, at 8 (S.D.N.Y. Sept.17, (1998)."

response had been, pursuant CrR 6.15(f)(1),³⁵ in *Sublett*. The Supreme Court found that rule's directive to "put the questions, answer and objections in the record" sufficiently advanced and protected the interests underlying the constitutional requirements of open courts to include the appearance of fairness...." 176 Wn.2d at 77. The public filing of the peremptory challenge list in defendant's case ensured a commensurate protection of the public trial right. *See* CP 260.

Allowing parties to privately exchange a peremptory challenge list also logically serves legitimate interests in facilitating confidential communications on how peremptory challenges should be exercised. Such communications often involve the expression of protected mental impressions about perceived the merit of particular jurors or insights into the opponent's strategy, which in turn influences the way peremptory challenges are exercised. The doctrines of work product and attorney client privilege as applied to an adversarial trial proceeding warrant giving parties the ability to freely discuss and exercise peremptory challenges beyond the observation of opponents and spectators. *See e.g.*, ER 201; ER

³⁵ CrR 6.15(f)(1) "The jury shall be instructed that any questions it wishes to ask the court about the instructions or evidence should be signed, dated, and submitted in writing to the bailiff. The court shall notify the parties of the contents of the questions and provide them an opportunity to comment upon an appropriate response. Written questions from the jury, the court's response, and any objections thereto shall be made a part of the record...." (Emphasis added).

502 (disclosures made in a proceeding waive attorney-client privilege or work product protection); CR 26(b)(4) (absolute protection from disclosure of mental impressions). Similar concern for protecting confidential information parties beneficially use to facilitate publicly conducted voir dire contributed to the Supreme Court's decision that the sealing of juror questionnaires did not constitute a courtroom closure in *State v. Beskurt*, 176 Wn.2d 441, 447, 293 P.3d 1159 (2013).

Neither experience nor logic suggest peremptory challenges must be publicly exercised, at least where auxiliary safeguards of the public trial right are present as they were in this case.

2. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING EVIDENCE OF NAME-CALLING BETWEEN DEFENDANT AND JOSHUA MOMENTS BEFORE THE ASSAULT ON TRIAL OCCURRED AS IT WAS PROOF OF DEFENDANT'S MOTIVE FOR THE SHOOTING AND RES GESTAE OF THE INCIDENT.

Defendant assigns error to the trial court ruling admissible name-calling between defendant and shooting victim (Joshua) that consisted of Joshua calling defendant "slob" (defined by a lay witness as a pejorative for Bloods) and defendant's responsive rejection of Joshua's claimed Crip affiliation that immediately preceded the shooting at issue in his case. *See* App. Br. at 28; 2RP 298, 301, 377, 386-88; 3RP 434-35, 491; 4RP 748-50.

Evidentiary rulings are reviewed for an abuse of discretion.

Lormor, 172 Wn.2d at 94. A trial court abuses its discretion if no reasonable person would have decided the matter as the trial court did.

State v. Thomas, 150 Wn.2d 821, 856, 83 P.3d 970 (2004) (citing State v. Castellanos, 132 Wn.2d 94, 97, 935 P.2d 1353 (1997)). This requires the ruling be "manifestly unreasonable." State v. Hughes, 118 Wn. App. 713, 724, 77 P.23d 681 (2003) (citing State v. Brown, 132 Wn.2d 529, 571-572, 940 P.2d 546 (1997), cert denied, 523 U.S. 1007, 118 S. Ct. 1192, 140 L. Ed. 2d 322 (1998)). Unreasonableness is manifest when it is based on untenable grounds or reasons;" it must be "obvious, directly observable, overt or not obscure...." Id.; see also State v. Taylor, 83 Wn.2d 594, 598, 521 P.2d 699 (1974).

Admissibility of the challenged name-calling was first addressed during defendant's motion in limine. 1RP 37-9. The court took judicial notice that "slob" in "this community" can be a derogatory term for a particular street gang and the response: "[Y]ou don't know me. You're

not from Hilltop," could be "taunting or a motive that involves gang affiliation." 1RP 39, 42-43. 36

Defendant conceded the name-calling was relevant, yet urged the court to limit the evidence to testimony the men "insulted each other" or that Joshua called defendant "slob" and that "slob" is an insult," without an explanation of the word's actual meaning. 1RP 43.

The court ruled the statements were admissible on the issue of defendant's potential motive for shooting Joshua, finding their probative value exceeded their prejudicial effect as they were a part of the mutual taunting that escalated the confrontation. 1RP 37-44, 45, 47-49. The court also found the evidence did not necessarily implicate defendant as a Blood. 1RP 45. The scope of the ruling was clarified at trial. 2RP 269-

³⁶ "A judicially noticed fact must be one not subject to reasonable dispute in that it is either (1) generally known within the territorial jurisdiction or (2) capable of accurate and ready determination by resort to sources whose accuracy cannot be reasonably questioned. ER 201(b). "A court may take judicial notice, whether or not requested." ER 201(c). Defendant's trial counsel conceded the probable accuracy of the trial court's understanding of the street gang meaning of "slob." 1RP 39.

85;³⁷ 4RB 689-92,³⁸ 742.³⁹ Defendant did not request a limiting instruction. No evidence of "defendant's gang status"⁴⁰ or gang expert testimony on the issue of gang culture was offered or admitted. 1RP 42-43; 1RP-6RP.

a. Defendant waived any error attending the challenged name-calling evidence when he failed to request a limiting instruction to tailor its use.

"When error may be obviated by an instruction to the jury, the error is waived unless an instruction is requested." *State v. Ramirez*, 62 Wn. App. 301, 305, 814 P.2d 227 (1991) (citing State v. Barber, 38 Wn. App. 758, 771, 689 P.2d 1099 (1984), review denied, 103 Wn.2d 1013 (1985); see also State v. Newbern, 95 Wn. App. 277, 295-296, 975 P.2d 1041, review denied, 138 Wn.2d 1018 (1999); State v. Ellard, 46 Wn.

³⁷ The first clarification followed defendant's ER 403 and ER 404(b) objection to Joshua's testimony that his argument with defendant included "a little bit of gang talk" 2RP 270. The court ruled Joshua's unsolicited reference to "gang talk" fell within the court's preliminary ruling as "the representations and the dialogue or the "gang talk" may have been a motive for the shooting... or at least the motive for [the incident] to go from merely fisticuffs to something obviously a lot more serious." 2RP 278, 295.

³⁸ The second clarification followed defendant's objection to questions posed to witness Crystal Rogers regarding Joshua's use of the "slob" insult as exceeding the scope of cross examination. 4RP 688-90. The court found the line of questioning was within the scope of issues raised during cross and reiterated that evidence was within the scope of its pretrial ruling. 4RP 690-92.

³⁹ Defendant objected when Cindy Tamblin testified her son (Joshua) and defendant yelled "gang words" at each other. 4RP 742. The objection was overruled. *Id*. The prosecutor responded by instructing the witness to avoid that characterization. 4RP 742. ⁴⁰ Although no evidence of defendant's gang affiliation was presented to the jury, the

state provided the trial court reports pertaining to defendant's affiliation or potential membership with the East Side Pirus—a Blood gang. 1RP 41-42.

App. 242, 244, 730 P.2d 109 (1986), review denied, 108 Wn.2d 1011 (1987); see also State v. Russell, 171 Wn.2d 118, 249 P.3d 604 (2011); State v. Dow, 162 Wn. App. 324, 253 P.3d 476 (2011). The decision to forego a limiting instruction for evidence admitted under ER 404(b) may be a legitimate trial tactic to avoid reemphasizing damaging evidence. State v. Yarbrough, 151 Wn. App. at 90, 210 P.3d 1029 (2009) (citations omitted).

Defendant waived his right to appeal the challenged evidentiary ruling when he failed to request a limiting instruction that would have obviated the prejudice he claims occurred. His improbable contention that the challenged name-calling was misused by the jury to convict him for being a gang member is precisely the type of misuse a properly worded limiting instruction would have prevented since jurors are presumed to follow their instructions. *See generally*, *State v. Bythrow*, 114 Wn.2d 713, 720-721, 790 P.2d 154 (1990); *Ramirez*, 62 Wn. App. at 305, 814 P.2d 227 (1991) (*citing State v. Grisby*, 97 Wn.2d 493, 400, 647 P.2d 6 (1982), *cert. denied*, 459 U.S. 1211, 103 S. Ct. 1205, 75 L. Ed. 2d 4466 (1983). Defendant's pursuit of limiting instructions for other evidence at trial suggests the failure to request one for the challenged evidence was grounded in valid trial strategy. *See e.g.*, 1RP 32, 53; 2RP 312; 4RP 653, 681; 5RP 886; *see also Yarbrough*, 151 Wn. App. at 90. The waiver

accompanying that decision was not affected by the fact the strategy may have proved unsuccessful.

The jury was nevertheless properly instructed to only consider the evidence admitted by the court, which did not include evidence of defendant's gang ties. CP 49 (Instruction No. 1). The law presumes the verdict was a product of that instruction. *See State v. Post*, 59 Wn. App. 389, 396, 797 P.2d 1160 (1990); *see also State v. Mason*, 127 Wn. App. 554, 40-41, 126 P.3d 34 (2005). The claimed evidentiary error was not preserved for review.

b. The challenged name-calling was admissible under ER 403 as minimally prejudicial evidence highly probative of defendant's mental state and motive for the shooting.

Due process requires that the State bear the burden of proving each and every element of the crime charged beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. McCullum*, 98 Wn.2d 484, 488, 656 P.2d 1064 (1983); *State v. Dolan*, 118 Wn. App. 323, 331, 73 P.3d 1011 (2003). To this end "[r]elevant evidence" is evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any

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